
1 
 
 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF HOMEWOOD, ALABAMA 

April 22, 2019 

 

 The City Council of the City of Homewood, Alabama convened in Regular 

Session on Monday, April 22, 2019 at City Hall at 6:00 p.m.   

 At this time, President Limbaugh presented a proclamation to Dr. Betty Winches 

recognizing her retirement from the Board of Education after forty-eight years of service 

to the community.  

 President Limbaugh then presented a proclamation to Homewood Fire and Rescue 

for their search and rescue efforts of Reverend Sid Burgess.  

 President Limbaugh then presented a proclamation to the BJCTA for National Get 

on Board Day held on April 25, 2019.  

The invocation was given by Reverend Sid Burgess, from Edgewood Presbyterian 

Church, after which the pledge of allegiance was given. 

  The meeting was called to order by President Limbaugh at 6:16 p.m. 

 Upon Roll Call, the following were present: Andy Gwaltney, Britt Thames, Mike 

Higginbotham, Andrew Wolverton, Walter Jones, Alex Wyatt, Jennifer Andress, and 

Bruce Limbaugh constituting a quorum of Council members. Also present were: Mike 

Kendrick, City Attorney; Melody Salter, City Clerk; and J.J. Bischoff, Chief of Staff. 

Absent: Patrick McClusky, Barry Smith, and Peter Wright. Mayor McBrayer was not 

present.  

President Limbaugh stated that, without objections, the Minutes of the April 8, 

2019 Council Meeting would be carried over. There were no objections.  

At this time, President Limbaugh requested Board openings and nominations.   

President Limbaugh opened the Ward 2 Board of Education application period 

until May 13, 2019 at 4:30 p.m.  

Councilor Jones re-opened the Ward 3 Historic Preservation Commission 

application period until May 20, 2019 at 4:30 p.m. 

President Limbaugh opened two At-Large application periods of the Educational 

Building Authority until May 13, 2019 at 4:30 p.m.  



2 
 
 

President Limbaugh re-opened the Ward 3 Homewood Environmental 

Commission application period until May 13, 2019 at 4:30 p.m. 

President Limbaugh re-opened an At-Large and Ward 2 Homewood Downtown 

Redevelopment Authority/Industrial Development Board application period until May 

20, 2019 at 4:30 p.m. 

At this time, President Limbaugh amended the published Council Agenda to add 

the following items to the Committee Referral Agenda: Item No. 31.04.19 – Request for 

consideration to close roadway on Oak Grove Road between Raleigh Avenue and Hall 

Avenue on June 1, 2019 for StreetFest and on August 24, 2019 for the Back to School 

Bash – Andrew Wolverton – Public Safety Committee.  

President Limbaugh further amended the published Council Agenda to add the 

following items to the Other New Business Agenda: Item No. 32.04.19 – Request for 

consideration of a vote by the Homewood City Council to oppose HB346 and its 

companion bill SB244, which would further limit the regulatory authority of county and 

municipal governments – Homewood Environmental Commission/Mike Higginbotham. 

Councilor Jones moved for the approval of the Council Agenda as amended. 

Councilor Gwaltney seconded the motion.   

 President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

 On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

CONSENT AGENDA 

None.  

 

OLD BUSINESS AGENDA 

The first item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 09.03.19 – Public 

Hearing set for April 8, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration to amend the development 

plan at 2762 (2756) B M Montgomery Street (PID #28-00-07-3-008-006-000) Applicant: 

Coker Holdings, LLC for Owner: Tim Coker for the purpose to relocate existing 

commercial building and replace with a new two-story 6,000 sq. ft. mixed use building 

(The Planning Commission had a unanimous vote of 6-0 for a favorable recommendation 

of the amendment to the previously approved development plan) – Wyatt Pugh (Carried 

over 03/18/19).  



3 
 
 

Mr. Tim Coker addressed the Council, presented a rendering, and stated that the 

proposal was to redevelop the existing project which was a Mixed Use Zoning and he 

already had approval through the Planning Commission for the redevelopment of the 

existing building that would be removed from the property and then they would develop a 

6,000 square foot business and residential occupancy building with basement parking. 

Mr. Coker further stated that the existing building was 100 percent business occupancy 

that would be removed from the property. Mr. Coker added that with the new building 

they would enter through the lower level parking and the building to the right was 100 

percent Residential, which was a building he built last year and was occupied May 1, 

2018 and the new building would be at the same floor level as the existing building and 

the top elevation of the proposed building was slightly lower than the existing building. 

Mr. Coker further added that the parking would exceed the requirements of the facility 

and was 100 percent conforming. 

President Limbaugh asked if the floor plan they looked at two weeks ago would 

still apply, 

Mr. Coker replied yes and stated that the lower level was parking, the upper level 

was residential, and the grade level was commercial and it was an open floor plan. Mr. 

Coker further stated that the building design was to fit the exterior appearance and would 

transition this from the hard commercial look of the contemporary building that was next 

door to the softer residential look that was in the duplex building to the right.  

Mr. Rob Walker, Architect, addressed the Council and stated that on the left of 

the proposed building was a commercial building that had a concrete façade and glass 

door front so the lower level of the new building would match that language; and the 

upper floor, which would be siding and windows would match the language of the 

residential building next door. 

Councilor Andress asked if this building would be the same height as the structure 

next to it that was residential. 

Mr. Walker replied yes and stated that that peak of the roof on the right matched 

the roof height of the one on the left. 

Councilor Wolverton asked if there was a floor plan of the business level. 

Mr. Coker replied that it was an open space right now. 

Councilor Wolverton asked if there was a pathway to get from the parking to the 

main level without coming back out of the parking area. 



4 
 
 

Mr. Coker replied yes and stated that there was a stairway up and there was an 

elevator up as well. Mr. Coker further stated that there was also on-grade parking that 

was on the rear side of the ground level.  

Councilor Gwaltney asked what precautions he was taking to ensure runoff was 

controlled and handled on the property.  

Mr. Coker stated that they had planned in a 2,000-2,500 gallon cistern that would 

capture and retain storm water that would be used for lawn irrigation and would be used 

as a retention structure as well as a storage tank.  

Councilor Gwaltney asked if the trees that were on the left side would be 

preserved. 

Mr. Coker replied yes and stated that there were seven to eight trees down that 

property line with the commercial next door and the hedge along the stone wall and the 

cistern would be in line with the right hand side of the planned building.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Ordinance for the Council’s 

consideration: 

Ordinance No. 2740 

(An Ordinance to amend the development plan at 2762 (2756) B M Montgomery Street (PID #28-00-

07-3-008-006-000) Applicant: Coker Holdings, LLC for Owner: Tim Coker for the purpose to relocate 

existing commercial building and replace with a new two-story 6,000 sq. ft. mixed use building) 

Councilor Jones moved for the enrollment and adoption and publication according 

to law of Ordinance No. 2740. Councilor Wyatt seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors Gwaltney, Thames, 

Wolverton, Jones, Wyatt, Andress, and Limbaugh. Nays: Higginbotham. 

The motion carried on a vote of 7-1. 

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 18.03.19 – Public 

Hearing continued from April 8, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration of a variance to the 

sign ordinance at 2823 Central Avenue, Suite 107 – Rayford Cook/Greg Cobb, BEZ 

Dept. (Carried over 04/08/19). 

President Limbaugh continued the Public Hearing at 6:41 p.m. 



5 
 
 

President Limbaugh asked if there was anyone in the audience who wished to 

speak in favor of, or in opposition to, this item.  

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Council and stated that at the last meeting they 

asked Mr. Cook to put the drawings into scale and he had done that. 

Councilor Thames asked to verify that the variance was for one additional 

attached sign. 

Mr. Cobb replied that there were actually two because the BrewPub sign and the 

Circle were separated from one another but the one on the front met the code and the 

square footage met the code at 50 square feet and he would make the one on the back 50 

square feet so he would not be out footage-wise so it would just be for multiple signs. 

Councilor Wolverton asked if they had changed the roadway so that it was a one 

way coming toward the front of the building. 

Mr. Cobb replied yes. 

Councilor Wolverton stated that he was trying to justify the need for a posterior 

sign, understanding it was a secondary entrance but also that a lot of traffic would be 

seeing where the building was as they approached from the front. 

Mr. Rayford Cook addressed the Council and stated that it was a challenging 

building to see as it was positioned in the parking lot to begin with because it was far 

from the main road and then half of that building was tucked in behind the other building 

that housed Little Donkey and Steel City Pops so they could really only see it from one 

angle. 

Councilor Jones stated that he wanted to thank him for coming back with the 50 

square foot option and he felt he did need the sign on the back because people did park 

back there and rather than walking all the way around they could go straight into the back 

so he thought that would help.  

President Limbaugh declared the Public Hearing closed at 6:42 p.m.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding this item.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-50 

(A Resolution for a variance to the sign ordinance at 2823 Central Avenue, Suite 107) 



6 
 
 

Councilor Jones moved for the adoption and enrollment of Resolution No. 19-50.  

Councilor Thames seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 17.03.19 – 

Request for consideration to rename a section of roadway from Columbiana Road to 

Green Springs Hwy from Lakeshore Drive to Raleigh Ave. and changing addresses of 

924 and 1000 Columbiana Road to the 900 block of Green Springs Hwy. for less 

confusion in dispatching to the locations – Hannah Smith, 9-1-1 Office/Homewood 

Police Dept. (Carried over 04/08/19).  

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Council and stated that he went back to talk to the 

neighbors and they said that they had talked about it and thought they should just change 

the street signs. 

President Limbaugh stated that he didn’t think they could do that.  

Mr. Cobb stated that straight across the street was a sign that said “Green 

Springs” and “Red Fern” but what happened was that Old Columbiana came down 

behind the tire store and dead ended and those houses all the way down there were 

addressed Columbiana Road but then years ago it came across and then when it got past 

the south side of the creek it turned back into Old Columbiana Road and continued into 

Vestavia. Mr. Cobb further stated that looking at it on a map it was just a missing piece 

from when Green Springs Highway was built.  

President Limbaugh stated that they were attempting to do this as a service for the 

benefit of the citizens from the first responders. 

Councilor Jones stated that this was a public safety issue and they had met with 

the residents to let them know and they may not be for it, but he was for it personally, 

because of 9-1-1 services getting there as quickly as possible so for the city’s perspective 

he felt they should move forward with it though he knew it would be inconvenient for a 

few people, but safety should come first.  

Mr. Cobb stated that what one of the neighbors mentioned to him was that there 

were a lot of different issues such as checks from the bank having to have an address 

change and the address having to be changed on everything, 



7 
 
 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that he agreed that this was a safety issue and he 

just wanted to make sure those affected would be aware of what would be happening but 

he was still in favor of it.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Ordinance for the Council’s 

consideration: 

Ordinance No. 2741 

(An Ordinance to rename a section of roadway from Columbiana Road to Green Springs Hwy from 

Lakeshore Drive to Raleigh Ave. and changing addresses of 924 and 1000 Columbiana Road to the 900 

block of Green Springs Hwy.) 

Councilor Jones moved for the enrollment and adoption and publication according 

to law of Ordinance No. 2741. Councilor Gwaltney seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors Gwaltney, Thames, 

Higginbotham, Wolverton, Jones, Wyatt, Andress, and Limbaugh. 

The motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 15.02.19 – Public 

Hearing set for April 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration of a variance to the 

driveway ordinance at 515 Rumson Road – Will Smith/Greg Cobb, BEZ.  

Councilor Jones stated that the Special Issues Committee met on April 1, 2019 

and voted 5-0 to set the Public Hearing on April 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. and to refer this 

item back to the full Council without a recommendation pending the Public Hearing.  

President Limbaugh opened the Public Hearing at 6:48 p.m. 

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Council and stated that the request was for a drive 

through which would be a half arc so they could pull in and pull out without backing out 

into the street since the terrain was very steep there and would end up in the city right-of-

way.  

 Mr. Will Smith addressed the Council and stated that this section of Rumson 

Road had a sidewalk added to it several years ago and it narrowed the road so that it was 

now more narrow than most of the roads in Hollywood and it was turned into a one-way 

street so he felt that having off street parking in this section of Rumson would make it 

much safer for guest parking and delivery vehicles.  



8 
 
 

 Councilor Andress stated that she agreed with everything that Mr. Smith said 

because it was very steep and very narrow and his neighbors all had parking on their lots 

and they could not get cars though on the street there. 

 Councilor Wolverton asked how wide the roadway was there. 

 Mr. Cobb replied that it was 19 feet across after the sidewalk. 

 Councilor Wolverton asked to verify what the variance was for. 

 Mr. Cobb replied that part of his driveway would be in the right-of-way. 

 Mr. Kendrick stated that it was a two part variance, a drive way variance and 

right-of-way variance.  

President Limbaugh asked if there was anyone in the audience who wished to 

speak in favor of, or in opposition to, this item.  

President Limbaugh declared the Public Hearing closed at 6:51 p.m.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding this item. There was no response from the Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-51 

(A Resolution for a variance to the driveway ordinance at 515 Rumson Road) 

Councilor Andress moved for the adoption and enrollment of Resolution No. 19-

51.  Councilor Wyatt seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 08.03.19 – Public 

Hearing set for April 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration for a variance to the 

driveway ordinance to add a second entrance at 311 LeJeune Way – Deborah 

Smith/Wyatt Pugh, BEZ. 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that the Special Issues Committee met on April 1, 

2019 and voted 5-0 to set the Public Hearing on April 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. and to refer 

this item back to the full Council without a recommendation pending the Public Hearing.  



9 
 
 

President Limbaugh opened the Public Hearing at 6:52 p.m. 

President Limbaugh asked if there was anyone in the audience who wished to 

speak in favor of, or in opposition to, this item.  

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Council and stated that the lot width was 59.87 feet 

and the drive way ordinance allowed for 60 feet and she was off by an inch and a quarter.  

President Limbaugh asked Mr. Cobb to explain the drawing of the request. 

Mr. Cobb stated that the yellow was what she was requesting to add and the part 

on the right was what was already there. Mr. Cobb further stated that the right hand side 

was the drive way and she was wanting to be able to pull in and pull out and the 

ordinance required a 60 foot width to that. Mr. Cobb added that tax map showed the lot at 

60 feet wide but the survey showed it at 59.87. 

President Limbaugh asked if they could make that turn from the new rounded 

driveway into the original driveway. 

Mr. Cobb replied that she would have to have a little more radius on that bottom 

line to make that turn.  

Councilor Wyatt asked if there were any other homes on this street that had 

driveways like this. 

Ms. Deborah Smith addressed the Council and replied that there was one on the 

corner.  

Councilor Wyatt asked if the tree would need to be removed. 

Ms. Smith replied that they were hiring a landscape architect to draw the plan and 

if they had to remove the tree they would put a new one in that would be comparable to 

the one that would be taken down but they were hoping to save it.  

Councilor Thames asked if the new ordinance that dictated the amount of lot that 

could be developed, would this calculation come into play here.  

Mr. Cobb replied yes but it did not appear to take up 50 percent of the lot with the 

house and the added driveway. 

Councilor Thames stated that they did need to double check that and if it did she 

would need to use a permeable surface for this portion of the driveway.  

Councilor Wolverton asked what the hardship was for requesting the variance. 



10 
 
 

Ms. Smith replied that they had a brand new house going up right next door and 

the street was very congested with a lot of parking on the street and she had an 87 year 

old mother living with her who did drive and it made it very difficult for her to back in 

and back out with all the cars and trucks on the street. 

Councilor Andress stated that she could confirm that there was a lot of on street 

parking on that road and it was very congested and hard to back out. 

Ms. Smith stated that her neighbor across the street had triplets and another 

daughter and they would be driving soon so it would be getting even more congested as 

children grew and started driving.  

President Limbaugh declared the Public Hearing closed at 6:58 p.m.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding this item. There was no response from the Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-52 

(A Resolution for a variance to the driveway ordinance to add a second entrance at 311 LeJeune Way) 

Councilor Andress moved for the adoption and enrollment of Resolution No. 19-

52.  Councilor Jones seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 15.04.19 – Public 

Hearing set for April 22, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration for a variance to the sign 

ordinance at 2829 19th Street South – Daniel Von Hagel/Greg Cobb, BEZ. 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that the Special Issues Committee met on April 

15, 2019 and voted 4-0 to refer this item back to the full Council without 

recommendation pending the Public Hearing.  

President Limbaugh opened the Public Hearing at 6:59 p.m. 

President Limbaugh asked if there was anyone in the audience who wished to 

speak in favor of, or in opposition to, this item.  



11 
 
 

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Council and stated that this request was for a 

multiple sign variance for Jack’s who was planning on tearing down and rebuilding their 

building. Mr. Cobb further stated that they were planning to take down the big pole sign 

and they wanted to use all attached signs so there would not be any pole signs or any type 

of monument sign. Mr. Cobb added that they had altered it from what they saw last week. 

Mr. Daniel Von Hagel with Pro Signs addressed the Council and stated that they 

had two wall murals on the right side elevation and the left side elevation with both 

totaling to about 216 square feet of signage but they decided to scratch that and bring that 

back and played with the idea of having a mural that said “Proudly Serving Homewood 

Since 1962” but they went ahead and decided to remove those murals and just stick with 

the three elevations that they would be presenting here tonight.  

Councilor Higginbotham asked to verify that the variances were number and size. 

Mr. Von Hagel replied that this was a request for a variance for an additional 

71.46 square feet of attached building signage and with the new building they were 

asking to have a total of 121.46 square feet placed across three wall elevations, the front, 

the main entry, and the drive through side with the Jack’s signature lollipop logo.  

Councilor Wolverton asked to verify that the signs that said Jack’s would not be 

illuminated. 

Mr. Von Hagel replied yes and stated that the front elevation and the drive 

through side had a standard six foot by six foot illuminated side cabinet with a circular 

logo; on the right entry side there would be reverse cut channel letters that would be edge 

lit so they would shine back into the building and they were about 44.33 square feet; and 

then they had the “All About the South” letters that were not illuminated and those were 

about one foot by 20 feet. Mr. Von Hagel further stated that the pole sign was 35 feet in 

overall height and was a ten foot lollipop circle so they were at about 350 square feet just 

in pole sign right now and the reader board worked for them because they got to advertise 

deals and the sign they had on the front of the elevations was 28.26 square feet. Mr. Von 

Hagel added that they were completely okay with removing the pole sign but their 

biggest thing was because they were in the middle of 19th Street between 28th and 29th 

Avenue since there was such heavy traffic going back and forth, that they would love to 

have the opportunity to have some visibility on each side elevation to at least give 

someone who was driving by a chance to be seen. 

Councilor Thames stated that the city was updating their zoning and signage 

regulations in Downtown and though they were not complete, they did have a draft so he 

tried to go back over the course of the week and compare to how this proposal would fit 

in to what most likely would end up being put into place but he did not see how a 



12 
 
 

monument sign could not accomplish everything he just requested. Councilor Thames 

further stated that the draft would allow a monument sign to get them the north/south 

visibility and would also allow for a canopy sign which would take care of the “All 

About the South” lettering but he was not going to support a multiple attached sign 

variance when it was not in keeping with their future vision and this was not Highway 31 

or I-65 so if someone was on 19th Street they knew where Jack’s was.  

Mr. Von Hagel stated that this was mainly for people who were not familiar with 

the area and while Jack’s had been here for a long time and a lot of the locals knew on 

Saturday mornings to come to Jack’s but it was the people that came to visit Homewood 

who were not familiar with Jack’s. Mr. Von Hagel further stated that he went to TCBY 

and measured their sign cabinets and they were four by twelve and they had three of them 

right there on the corner so they were at 144 square feet of signage and they did have 

Highway 31 to their advantage but they were right there in the middle and needed as 

much visibility as they could get and with going from 378 square feet of signage that they 

had right now down to only 121 square feet he felt like they were trying to do their part to 

try to get some visibility.  

Councilor Thames stated that under the new proposed sign ordinance the wall 

mural could be something that would be listed again, but the city could decide not to list 

that, but he would hope that as a good corporate citizen, which they were, that they would 

want to work toward their future of what Downtown was going to look like. Councilor 

Thames further stated that if they were on 28th or 29th Avenue they could see a monument 

sign just as well as they could see a sign on the north or south side of the building. 

Mr. Jim Avery, Director of Development with Jack’s addressed the Council and 

stated that from Jack’s prospective they were in a business environment and most retail 

businesses, even their direct competitor Arby’s behind them, had multiple building 

signage, and the Arby’s had a monument sign as well. Mr. Avery further stated that part 

of what they were trying to do was stay even on a competitive basis with those other 

businesses in the area. Mr. Avery added that he had been in the Birmingham area for 

about two years and he located the Homewood store by the pole sign because he was 

driving down the main street and was from out of town and was not familiar with it and 

had there been a monument sign there, he would have never seen it. Mr. Avery further 

added that signage represented their brand and that was a big part of their retail business.  

Councilor Thames stated that he understood that but felt that it could be 

accomplished another way that would be more in keeping with what was going to 

develop in the area.  

President Limbaugh asked what the timeline was for construction. 



13 
 
 

Mr. Avery replied that they were hoping to start in two weeks and would start 

closing the restaurant and salvaging the equipment, shutting off the utilities, and starting 

the demolition within two weeks. 

President Limbaugh asked what length of time the construction would take. 

Mr. Avery replied that their typical projects was about 120 days.  

Councilor Jones stated that he wanted to thank them for coming back with less 

signage and compared to what was there now and since they were building a restaurant 

that even had their rock structure that was part of a lot of their city’s properties was really 

good. Councilor Jones further stated that he could live with what he proposed by taking 

off the additional signs that they had and taking down the pole sign.  

Councilor Wyatt stated that he was worried about the same things that Councilor 

Thames was worried about which was putting in signage that was going to be 

immediately violating the new proposed ordinance. Councilor Wyatt asked to verify that 

they were not interested in a monument sign in place of some of the signs they proposed.  

Mr. Von Hagel replied that there was really not a lot of real estate without giving 

up a tree or parking space because of the new building.  

Mr. Avery stated that Mr. Von Hagel was correct and to them the building space 

was very valuable and they were willing to give up any kind of free standing sign to be 

able to have the building sign. 

Councilor Wyatt stated that he appreciated his willingness to take down the pole 

sign and the murals as well but it seemed a monument might help them attract the 

customers on the side roads better than this.  

Mr. Von Hagel stated that they respectfully disagree because driving down both 

roads and being able to look over with line of sides they would be able to see something 

raised on a higher elevation on a building more than they would on a monument sign. Mr. 

Von Hagel further stated that Jack’s loved reader boards so they would try to incorporate 

that but he would disagree because he felt they had a better shot getting customers to the 

store with the two side elevations wall signage.  

President Limbaugh declared the Public Hearing closed at 7:10 p.m.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding this item.  

Councilor Jones moved for approval.  

Councilor Thames asked for clarification of the variance request.  



14 
 
 

Mr. Cobb replied that it was for multiple signs and areas. 

Councilor Thames asked if all the signs were out of size requirements. 

Mr. Cobb replied that collectively they went over the allowed amount but 

individually they did not.  

Councilor Wolverton asked if they could continue the item.  

Councilor Jones stated that typically the Council was asked for something and 

they did not get what they wanted it would be left like it was because he felt like they 

came back with their best and final proposal so he felt they should vote on it and if it did 

not pass they would be left with a pole sign there like it was now. 

Councilor Wolverton asked if there was a possibility of a monument or blade 

sign. 

President Limbaugh replied that he thought they had proposed their final option.  

Councilor Thames stated that he was looking at how the new building was going 

to sit on the lot and asked if the pole sign could remain with how the building would sit 

on the lot.  

Mr. Von Hagel replied no. 

Councilor Thames stated that the pole sign would go either way, 

President Limbaugh stated not if they did not rebuild.  

Mr. Von Hagel stated that yes, if they did not rebuild, the pole sign would stay.  

Councilor Thames asked if their plan was to rebuild. 

Mr. Von Hagel replied yes, but the signage decision was a big part of that. 

Councilor Thames stated that taking down the pole sign would not be a proffer if 

they had to take it down either way.  

Councilor Jones stated that they were planning to build it out to where the pole 

sign was. 

Councilor Thames stated that then he would not consider that a proffer.  

Mr. Von Hagel stated that the option would be that they would just not rebuild the 

store.  

 



15 
 
 

Councilor Andress stated that they had meetings every day this week and they 

working hard on this talking about this all week so she was concerned about taking a vote 

on this now.  

Councilor Wolverton stated that he appreciated that they had made some changes 

that they had asked for and he understood there was a timeline but did not want to vote 

and start all over. 

Mr. Von Hagel stated that he was not sure if a monument sign would be 

considered by Jack’s and it was his understanding that it would not be allowed. 

Councilor Jones stated that it was discussed in committee that a monument sign 

would not be allowed. 

President Limbaugh stated that the Ward representatives indicated that they would 

be agreeable to a monument sign.  

Councilor Thames stated that the current sign ordinance draft that was before 

them would include the option of a monument sign.  

President Limbaugh stated that as a resident of this ward he would much rather 

see the proposed plan be approved than the current reality remain. 

Councilor Thames stated that he understood and looked forward it and 

appreciated that they want to rebuild the store and he appreciated the fact that they started 

to make some efforts to tailor to their requests but he did not consider it a proffer if the 

pole sign was going away anyway and he felt like they were going to rebuild the building 

either way so he was willing to take that risk.  

Councilor Jones withdrew his motion for approval. 

President Limbaugh stated that this item would be carried over.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 20.04.19 – Public 

Hearing set for May 20, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for consideration of possible vacation of alley 

on 18th Street – President Limbaugh. 

President Limbaugh stated that the Public Hearing would be reset for June 10, 

2019 at 6:00 p.m.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 01.04.19 – 

Request for consideration to declare miscellaneous interior and patio furniture from the 

Senior Center surplus – Berkley Squires, Director/Parks and Rec. 



16 
 
 

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend approval. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the first reading of the proposed Ordinance 

for the Council’s consideration at 7:21 p.m.: 

Ordinance No. 

(An Ordinance to declare miscellaneous interior and patio furniture from the Senior Center surplus) 

Councilor Wyatt moved for the unanimous consent of the proposed Ordinance as 

read. Councilor Gwaltney seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors Gwaltney, Thames, 

Higginbotham, Wolverton, Jones, Wyatt, Andress, and Limbaugh. 

The motion for unanimous consent carried.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Ordinance for the Council’s 

consideration: 

Ordinance No. 2742 

(An Ordinance to declare miscellaneous interior and patio furniture from the Senior Center surplus) 

Councilor Jones moved for the enrollment and adoption and publication according 

to law of Ordinance No. 2742. Councilor Higginbotham seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors Gwaltney, Thames, 

Higginbotham, Wolverton, Jones, Wyatt, Andress, and Limbaugh. 

The motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 02.04.19 – 

Request for consideration to authorize the Mayor to sign a contract with the BJCTA – 

Robert W. Burgett, Finance Director.  



17 
 
 

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend approval. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-53 

(A Resolution to authorize the Mayor to sign a contract with the BJCTA) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 03.04.19 – 

Request to authorize the Mayor to sign software-hardware contract for SOHO parking 

enforcement solution – Chief Tim Ross/John Self, Police Department. 

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend approval after hearing report from Chief Ross that software 

would enable writing electronic traffic tickets transmitted directly to court system. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-54 

(A Resolution to authorize the Mayor to sign software-hardware contract for SOHO parking 

enforcement solution) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  



18 
 
 

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 04.04.19 – 

Request for consideration for re-paving 31 / Shades Cahaba Tunnel – Jennifer Andress. 

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend approval. 

Mr. Greg Cobb addressed the Committee and stated that Mr. Berkley Squired 

made a good suggestion last week about possibly painting the inside of the tunnel with a 

nonslip type paint that was put in the bathrooms in the park and looked very nice and 

would look much nicer than the asphalt.  

President Limbaugh asked if this would be done in the summer when the tunnel 

would not be in use.  

Mr. Cobb replied that it could be done either on the weekends or during the 

summer.  

President Limbaugh stated that his preference would be during the summer. 

Mr. Cobb stated that they were so close to summer that he talked to the contractor 

about that but they would like the opportunity to look at it and make that decision and if it 

was in good shape they could go in that direction.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-55 

(A Resolution to authorize re-paving 31 / Shades Cahaba Tunnel) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 05.04.19 – 

Request for consideration to donate parcel of land to the City of Homewood (PID # 28 00 

07 3 014 004.000) (Legal Description: Lot 18, Block 7, Rosedale Park, Less RD RW) – 

Matt Akin/Melody Salter, City Clerk.  



19 
 
 

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend accepting donation. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-56 

(A Resolution to accept donation of parcel of land to the City of Homewood (PID # 28 00 07 3 014 

004.000) (Legal Description: Lot 18, Block 7, Rosedale Park, Less RD RW)) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 06.04.19 – 

Request for consideration of bid for Homewood Police Department FFE – Jeffrey Black, 

CMH Architects/Melody Salter, City Clerk.  

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee met on April 15, 2019 and 

voted 5-0 to recommend approval of CMH as lowest responsive and responsible bidder 

of six packages.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-57 

(A Resolution to accept CMH bid for Homewood Police Department FFE) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  



20 
 
 

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 07.04.19 – 

Request for consideration to set a bid opening for Spring Tree Planting – Amy Milam, 

HEC/Melody Salter, City Clerk.  

Councilor Jones recommended that the bid opening be set for June 3, 2019 at 4:45 

p.m. with a deadline for submission set for 4:30 p.m. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

President Limbaugh stated that the Bid Opening would be set for June 3, 2019 at 

4:45 p.m. with a deadline for submission set for 4:30 p.m. 

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 09.04.19 – 

Request to authorize the Mayor to sign the contract renewal with Predpol – Chief Tim 

Ross/Sgt. Jerry Suttles, Police Dept./Melody Salter, City Clerk.  

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee on April 15, 2019 and voted 5-

0 to recommend approval. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-58 

(A Resolution to authorize the Mayor to sign the contract renewal with Predpol) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 14.04.19 – 

Request to amend Fiscal Year 2018-2019 budgets – Berkley Squires/Robert W. Burgett, 

Finance Director.  

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee on April 15, 2019 and voted 5-

0 to recommend approval. 



21 
 
 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Finance Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from the 

Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-59 

(A Resolution to amend Fiscal Year 2018-2019 budgets) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Finance Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 12.04.19 – 

Request to work in the City Right-of-Way at 2829 19th Street South – Dale Bright/Greg 

Cobb, BEZ. 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that the Special Issues Committee met on April 

15, 2019 and voted 3-1 to recommend approval.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the Special Issues Committee’s recommendation. There was no response from 

the Council. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-60 

(A Resolution to work in the City Right-of-Way at 2829 19th Street) 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Special Issues Committee.  

Councilor Gwaltney stated that this was an item that was discussed last week and 

they were wanting to transfer the planting of the trees onto the city alley so he felt this 

was a dangerous precedent to set for the city taking on the businesses responsibility to put 

that it their alley because the alley was going to be ever changing with the development 

that they had been having and would continue to have downtown over the next few years. 

Councilor Gwaltney further stated that he felt this was a self-imposed hardship that they 

brought upon themselves by increasing the square footage of their building as far as they 

could and reducing their parking spaces from 30 plus down to 20-21 and then transferring 



22 
 
 

the responsibility for that planting to be on city property, although they would be 

maintaining it, he did not feel this was the precedent they needed to set downtown long 

term. Councilor Gwaltney added that this needed to be included in their site plan and on 

their property. 

Councilor Thames asked if the adjoining property owner had been spoken with. 

Mr. Cobb replied that he had not spoken with him but he had taken a copy of that 

drawing and put his business card on it with today’s date and time for this meeting and 

took it there Tuesday and he left it with his cashier and had not heard from him. 

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors: Higginbotham, Wolverton, 

Jones, and Limbaugh. Nays: Gwaltney, Thames, and Wyatt. Abstain: Andress. 

The motion passed on a vote of 4-3-1. 

The next item on the Agenda under Old Business was Item No. 13.04.19 – 

Request to work in the City Right-of-Way at 400 Shades Creek Parkway – John 

Millhouse/Greg Cobb, BEZ. 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that the Special Issues Committee met and voted 

4-0 to refer this item back to the full Council without a recommendation pending tree 

count. 

Mr. Cobb stated that around the building there were 24 Crepe Myrtles, and 30 

Holly Hedges but the only little trees were those in the back between the curb and the 

stake toward the property line.  

Mr. John Millhouse addressed the Council and stated that he agreed with Mr. 

Cobb and did not believe they were moving any protected trees. Mr. Millhouse further 

stated that he went out Sunday and measured the trees that he felt were coming out four 

and half feet up and all with one exception were way under the 14 inch diameter 

requirement and there was one that was iffy but it was questionable as to if that tree could 

be saved and was outside the footprint of what they were doing but was very close. Mr. 

Millhouse added that between the planting plan and the trees that they had remaining they 

would have in excess of or meeting the requirement.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-61 

(A Resolution to work in the City Right-of-Way at 400 Shades Creek Parkway) 



23 
 
 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion from the Special Issues Committee. There was no response from the 

Council. 

On a roll call vote, the votes were: Yeas: Councilors Gwaltney, Thames, 

Higginbotham, Wolverton, Jones, Wyatt, Andress, and Limbaugh. 

The motion carried without dissent.  

COMMITTEE REFERRAL AGENDA 

 

22.04.19 Request to authorize the Mayor to sign contract with Alabama Power to 

maintain, insure and change over to LED lighting all public lighting that is 

owned by either Alabama Power or the City of Homewood– Berkley 

Squires and Barry Smith– Finance Committee 

 

23.04.19 Request for consideration to add stop sign at the Gainswood/Grace Street 

intersection – Britt Thames – Public Safety Committee 

 

24.04.19 Request for consideration of Historic Preservation Commission updates – 

Barry Smith – Special Issues Committee 

 

25.04.19 Request for permission to work in the city right-of-way to install a 

drainage pipe across a section of Woodland Park to Griffin Brook from 

house at 501 Woodland Drive – Bob Grantham/Wyatt Pugh/Greg 

Cobb, BEZ – Special Issues Committee 

 

26.04.19 Request to set a Bid Opening for Fuel Tank at Station 3 and referral to 

the Finance Committee – Chief Bresnan, Fire Dept. – Finance 

Committee 

 

27.04.19 Request to set a Public Hearing and referral to the Special Issues 

Committee for consideration of a variance to the fence ordinance to add a 

section of fencing across city alley right-of-way at 1575 Valley View 

Circle – John Mark Rives/Wyatt Pugh/Greg Cobb, BEZ – Special 

Issues Committee 

 

28.04.19 Request to set a Public Hearing and referral to the Special Issues 

Committee for consideration of a modification of a previously granted 

variance to the Homewood Fence Ordinance to allow 6-ft privacy fence to 

remain along front property line at 612 Hambaugh Avenue – Jeremy 

Galloway/Wyatt Pugh/Greg Cobb, BEZ – Special Issues Committee 

 

31.04.19  Request for consideration to close roadway on Oak Grove Road between 

Raleigh Avenue and Hall Avenue on June 1, 2019 for StreetFest and on 



24 
 
 

August 24, 2019 for the Back to School Bash – Andrew Wolverton – 

Public Safety Committee 

 

Councilor Thames moved for the approval of the Committee Referral Agenda as 

amended. Councilor Wyatt seconded the motion.   

 

 President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

 

 On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

The next item on the Agenda under Other New Business was Item No. 26.04.19 – 

Request to set a Bid Opening for Fuel Tank at Station 3 and referral the Finance 

Committee – Chief Bresnan, Fire Dept.  

President Limbaugh stated that the Bid Opening would be set for June 3, 2019 at 

4:45 p.m. 

The next item on the Agenda under Other New Business was Item No. 27.04.19 – 

Request to set a Public Hearing and referral to the Special Issues Committee for 

consideration of a variance to the fence ordinance to add a section of fencing across city 

alley right-of-way at 1575 Valley View Circle – John Mark Rives/Wyatt Pugh/Greg 

Cobb, BEZ.  

President Limbaugh stated that the Public Hearing would be set for May 13, 2019 

at 6:00 p.m. 

The next item on the Agenda under Other New Business was Item No. 28.04.19 – 

Request to set a Public Hearing and referral to the Special Issues Committee for 

consideration of a modification of a previously granted variance to the Homewood Fence 

Ordinance to allow 6-ft privacy fence to remain along front property line at 612 

Hambaugh Avenue – Jeremy Galloway/Wyatt Pugh/Greg Cobb, BEZ.  

President Limbaugh stated that the Public Hearing would be set for May 13, 2019 

at 6:00 p.m. 

The next item on the Agenda under Other New Business was Item No. 29.04.19 – 

Request for consideration of an ABC 020 – Restaurant Retail Liquor license for 

2COR910, LLC d/b/a Tostadas located at 1831 28th Ave S, N175 (Letters of No 

Objections received from Fire and Police Depts) – Melody Salter, City Clerk. 



25 
 
 

Councilor Wolverton moved for having no objections to the issuance of the ABC 

020 – Restaurant Retail Liquor license for 2COR910, LLC d/b/a Tostadas located at 1831 

28th Ave S, N175. Councilor Jones seconded the motion. 

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent. 

The next item on the Agenda under Other New Business was Item No. 30.04.19 – 

Request for consideration of approval of vouchers for period of April 8, 2019 through 

April 21, 2019 – City Treasurer/Finance Committee. 

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-62 

(A Resolution for approval of vouchers for period of April 8, 2019 through April 21, 2019) 

Councilor Thames moved for the adoption and enrollment of Resolution No. 19-

62.  Councilor Higginbotham seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried without dissent.  

The next item considered under Other New Business was Item No. 32.04.19 – 

Request for consideration of a vote by the Homewood City Council to oppose HB346 and 

its companion bill SB244, which would further limit the regulatory authority of county 

and municipal governments – Homewood Environmental Commission/Mike 

Higginbotham. 

Councilor Higginbotham stated that this bill would prohibit municipalities from 

setting regulations regarding plastic bags and one use disposable plastic items in their 

cities and his objection was that this was a municipal matter and he did not think the 

legislature should be telling them that they could or could not do anything like instead of 

being up to the local community and though this community was no entertaining 

anything like this at this time, that wasn’t the point to him, but he didn’t feel the 

legislature should be dictating how cities went about  handling things like this.  

Ms. Amy Milam of the Homewood Environmental Commission addressed the 

Council and stated that Councilor Higginbotham’s comments were the main takeaway of 

the Homewood Environmental Commission because they felt this was a legislative 



26 
 
 

overreach and though they were not advocating at this time for any sort of ban of any 

type of container and no municipality, county, or city in the state was advocating a ban, 

but as a reaction to this bill, Birmingham had passed a resolution to oppose this and on 

top of that began working on one to ban plastic. Ms. Milam further stated that they were 

just focused on the legislative overreach here and wanted to point out also that this bill 

was not only preventing what they might want to do in the future but it was also creating 

a conflict with the storm water regulations and the new storm water regulations did crack 

down on litter on the waterways and required the cities to control the litter so this was 

taking away one tool with which they might be able to one day in the future be able to 

comply with that regulation. Ms. Milam added that the two identical bills, the House Bill 

and the Senate Bill, were currently proposed in Committee and had not left their 

respective Committee yet so there was still time to oppose it but they wanted to get this 

addressed tonight because they could move to the floor at any time and they had third and 

fourth readings and were making their way through the Committees quickly. Ms. Milam 

further added that this would prohibit local governments from adopting or enforcing any 

ordinance that regulated auxiliary containers so there was a lot of talk about plastic bags 

but this involved any container made out of anything designed for transport, 

consumption, or protecting goods, so it was not just about plastic. 

Councilor Andress stated that she and Councilor Gwaltney sat on a round table 

with some other area cities and they got together on a regular basis and they had a long 

discussion about this issue last week with Birmingham, Vestavia, Mountain Brook, and 

Hoover and they heard about Birmingham’s ordinance that they were putting forward and 

they had a great discussion and this was state overreach.  

At this time, Mr. Kendrick presented the following Resolution for the Council’s 

consideration. 

Resolution No. 19-63 

(A Resolution opposing HB346 and its companion bill SB244, which would further limit the regulatory 

authority of county and municipal governments) 

Councilor Higginbotham moved for the adoption and enrollment of Resolution 

No. 19-63.  Councilor Andress seconded the motion.  

President Limbaugh asked if the Council had any questions or comments 

regarding the motion. There was no response from the Council.  

On a voice vote, the motion carried on a vote of 7-1. Councilor Jones voted no.   

Councilor Jones stated that the Finance Committee would meet on May 6, 2019 at 

5:00 p.m.  



27 
 
 

 

Councilor Thames stated that the Planning and Development Committee would 

meet on May 6, 2019 at 5:30 p.m. Councilor Thames further stated that he wanted to 

congratulate Councilor Andress for running in the Boston Marathon. Councilor Thames 

added that the Rosedale Day of Service went great and was very appreciative for 

everything that was accomplished.  

Councilor Higginbotham stated that the Special Issues Committee would meet on 

May 6, 2019 at 5:50 p.m.  

Councilor Wolverton stated that he wanted to thank the Parks and Rec 

Department and Raleigh Avenue Baptist Church for putting on the Easter Egg Hunts for 

the community. Councilor Wolverton further stated that the Exceptional Foundation 

Basketball Game would be held at 5:00 p.m.  

Councilor Wyatt stated that the Public Safety Committee would meet on May 6, 

2019 at 6:15 p.m. and the Public Works Committee would meet on May 6, 2019 at 6:30 

p.m. 

Councilor Andress stated that Regional Planning Commission would be holding 

two public meetings tomorrow from 11:30-1:00 p.m. and then again from 5:00-6:30 p.m. 

in the Council Chambers to discuss the Downtown Sign Code and they had a Work 

Session from 9:00-10:30 a.m. on Wednesday on the Downtown Draft and then would 

meet on the Sign Code on Thursday from 9:00-10:30 a.m.   

  There being no further business to come before the Council, the meeting was, on 

a motion duly made, adjourned at 7:58 p.m.   

 


